IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF IOWA NO. 19-0214

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee

VS.

GREGORY MICHAEL DAVIS, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR LINN COUNTY, HONORABLE SEAN McPARTLAND

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Alfredo Parrish Andrew Dunn Parrish Kruidenier Dunn Boles Gribble Gentry Brown & Bergmann L.L.P. 2910 Grand Avenue Des Moines, Iowa 50312 Telephone: (515) 284-573

Telephone: (515) 284-5737
Facsimile: (515) 284-1704
Email: aparrish@parrishlaw.com

adunn@parrishlaw.com

ATTORNEYS FOR

DEFENDANT/APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. OMISSION OF THE DEFENSE OF INSANITY IN THE MARSHALING INSTRUCTION FOR MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE WAS A CLEAR ERROR OF LAW AND COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT TO IT.

Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 72 (1991)

In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)

Middleton v. McNeil, 541 U.S. 433, 437 (2004)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

United States v. Samuels, 801 F.2d 1052 (8th Cir. 1986)

Alcala v. Marriot Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

Burkhalter v. Burkhalter, 848 N.W.2d 93 (Iowa 2013)

Fly v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 2012)

Koenig v. Koenig, 766 N.W.2d 635 (Iowa 2009)

Ladeburg v. Ray, 508 N.W.2d 694 (Iowa 1993)

Sonnek v. Warren, 522 N.W.2d 45 (Iowa 1994)

State v. Becker, 818 N.W.2d 135 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Booth, 169 N.W.2d 869 (1969)

State v. Hamann, 285 N.W.2d 180 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 552 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Hodge, 105 N.W.2d 613 (Iowa 1961)

State v. Hoyman, 863 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)

State v. McMullin, 421 N.W.2d 517 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Murray, 796 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Spates, 779 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Virgil, 895 N.W.2d 873 (Iowa 2017)

Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co., 572 N.W.2d 565 (Iowa 1997)

U.S. CONST. amend. V

U.S. CONST. amend. VI

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV

IOWA CONST. art. 1 § 9

IOWA CONST. art. 1 § 10

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(5)

Iowa Crim. Jury Instrs., 200.9

Jennifer S. Hunt, *The Cost of Character*, 28 UNIV. OF FLA. J.L. & PUB. POL'Y 241 (2017)

Judith L. Ritter, Your Lips are Moving . . . But the Words Aren't Clear: Dissecting the Presumption that Jurors Understand Instructions, 69 Mo. L. Rev. 163 (2004)

Nancy S. Marder, *Bringing Jury Instructions into the Twenty-First Century*, 81 Notre Dame L. Rev. 449 (2006)

II. THE DISTRICT COURT MISLED AND MISDIRECTED THE JURY WHEN GIVING AN INTOXICATION INSTRUCTION WHICH WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; THE COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL.

Estelle v. McGuire, 502 U.S. 62, 72 (1991)

Middleton v. McNeil, 541 U.S. 433, 437 (2004)

State v. Becker, 818 N.W.2d 135 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Booth, 169 N.W.2d 869 (1969)

State v. Caldwell, 385 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Collins, 305 N.W.2d 434 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Hoyman, 863 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Marsh, 392 N.W.2d 132 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Murray, 796 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Ross, 573 N.W.2d 906 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Spates, 779 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Johnson, 534 N.W.2d 118 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

State v. Voelkers, 547 N.W.2d 625 (Iowa Ct. App. 1996)

U.S. CONST. amend. V

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV

IOWA CONST. art. 1 § 9

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(5)

Iowa Code § 701.4

III. THE DISTRICT COURT MISLED AND MISDIRECTED THE JURY WHEN INCLUDING A DIMINISHED RESPONSIBILITY INSTRUCTION WITH LESSER INCLUDED MARSHALING INSTRUCTIONS; THE COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT A NEW TRIAL.

Middleton v. McNeil, 541 U.S. 433, 437 (2004)

Afinson v. State, 758 N.W.2d 496 (Iowa 2008)

Fly v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Becker, 818 N.W.2d 135 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Collins, 305 N.W.2d 434 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Hoyman, 863 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Murray, 796 N.W.2d 907 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Spates, 779 N.W.2d 770 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Virgil, 895 N.W.2d 873 (Iowa 2017)

U.S. CONST. amend. V

U.S. CONST. amend. VI

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV

IOWA CONST. art. 1 § 9

IOWA CONST. art. 1 § 10

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.24(2)(b)(5)

IV. GREG WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT AND ARTICLE I § 10 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION WHEN TRIAL COUNSEL ELICITED TESTIMONY THAT GREG HAD THE SPECIFIC INTENT TO KILL CARRIE.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)

Alcala v. Marriot Int'l, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

In re Detention of Palmer, 691 N.W.2d 413 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Allen, 565 N.W.2d 333 (Iowa 1997)

State v. Cromer, 765 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Myers, 382 N.W.2d 91 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Virgil, 895 N.W.2d 873 (Iowa 2017)

U.S. CONST. amend. VI

IOWA CONST. art. 1 § 10

Iowa R. Evid. 5.702

V. THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL AND EVIDENTIARY ERRORS VIOLATED DAVIS'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL AND DUE PROCESS.

United States v. Chase, 451 F.3d 474 (8th Cir. 2006)

United States v. Rivera, 900 F.2d 1462 (10th Cir. 1990)

State v. Carey, 165 N.W.2d 27 (Iowa 1969)

State v. Pierce, 287 N.W.2d 570 (Iowa 1980)

State v. Veal, 564 N.W.2d 797 (Iowa 1997)

Blum v. State, 510 N.W.2d 175 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993)

State v. Hardy, 492 N.W.2d 230 (Iowa Ct. App. 1992)

U.S. CONST. amend. V U.S. CONST. amend. XIV IOWA CONST. art. 1 § 9

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it involves a substantial issue of first impression concerning the mandatory inclusion of the insanity instruction as part of the marshaling instruction for murder in the first degree when insanity is raised as a defense. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

CASE STATEMENT

The State charged Gregory Michael Davis (G. Davis)¹ with first-degree murder in violation of Iowa Code §§ 707.1, 707.2(l)(a) and 902.7 for the death of Carrie Davis (C. Davis). (App. 15). G. Davis provided notice of insanity/diminished responsibility. (App. 8).

Trial began September 10, 2018 and ended September 14. (TT Vol. 1 1:9–11; TT Vol. 5 1:9–11). G. Davis was convicted of first-degree murder. New counsel was retained for post-trial motions. Counsel raised, inter alia, the following issues to support a new trial: (1) trial court erred in failing to include the insanity defense as part of the marshaling instruction to Murder in the First Degree (App. 28); (2) trial court erred when submitting a jury instruction regarding G. Davis's intoxication at the time of the offense; and

12

¹ This case involves multiple individuals with the last name Davis. Each individual after the initial introduction will be referenced by their first initial and last name.

(3) ineffective assistance of counsel. (App. 38). G. Davis additionally raised the issue of the diminished capacity instruction included in general intent marshaling instructions. (App. 45). The court overruled the motions. (App. 48). G. Davis filed for reconsideration. (App. 56; App. 62; App. 71) These were denied. (App. 74; App. 79).

On February 1, 2019, G. Davis was sentenced to life imprisonment. (App. 81). Notice of appeal was filed. ((App. 84), Feb. 5, 2019).

FACTS

A. Introduction

Suffering with psychosis, G. Davis stabbed his girlfriend C. Davis 26 times in order to free her from the devil. (TT Vol. 3 60:13–14; 105:3–5). At the time, they were living together at his grandfather's home. (State Trial Ex. 12 21:33–21:50²). C. Davis had stab wounds to the head, thorax, and extremities. (TT Vol. 3 95:18–98:6, 100:22–104:19; State Trial Ex. 9³). There were several blunt force injuries on her body, head, neck, back and extremities. (TT Vol. 3 106:23–108:4). He wrapped her body in layers of blankets and placed her in a roll of carpet in the back of a trailer. (TT Vol. 2 80:19–81:2). At the time she was found, early stages of decomposition were

² DVD of defendant's DCI Interview Oct. 2, 2017

³ DVD containing 13 photos of C. Davis autopsy

noted. (TT Vol. 3 106:21–22). G. Davis presented expert testimony that at the time of the incident he was experiencing psychosis and did not have the capacity to form intent. (TT Vol. 4 51:19–25, 141:4–12).

B. Background

G. Davis was born December 18, 1989, in Marion, Iowa. (TT Vol. 3) 18:3–4). His mother was an accountant and his father in the real estate business. (TT Vol. 3 13:11–16). From a young age, he struggled with feelings of anxiety, embarrassment, depression, and mental health maladies. (TT Vol. 4 72:6–73:24, 102:9–15). From birth through adolescence he required five extensive facial surgeries to address the impact of a cleft pallet on his facial structure and function. (TT Vol. 3 54:14–57:6). His cleft pallet impacted more than how his face looked and functioned. As a result of his facial deformities he struggled in school, was bullied, and began a battle with mental health. (TT Vol. 3 16:12–20, 45:25–46:11, 58:19–59:4; TT Vol. 4 72:6–73:24). His mental health battle eventually led to self-medication through illegal substances—creating an addiction plaguing him to the date of this incident. (TT Vol. 4 144:2-11). His addiction to substances included alcohol, methamphetamine, marijuana, cocaine and prescription drugs. After he was arrested, he tried to commit suicide and was placed on suicide watch in the Linn County Jail. (TT Vol. 127:23–128:17).

G. Davis graduated from Linn-Mar High School. He enrolled in college at Kirkwood. (TT Vol. 3 18:5–21). He was unable to control his addiction, and at the age of 18, at the end of his first semester he entered a drug treatment program for the first time. (TT Vol. 4 101:13–22). He would enroll in drug treatment programs at least four times. (TT Vol. 3 44:9–11).

After drug treatment, G. Davis attempted a second semester of college dropping out and moved to Ohio to work for his brother's landscaping business and flipping houses. (TT Vol. 3 19:15–17; 22:6–20; 23:18–19). His addiction to drugs continued while living in Ohio and he began experiencing heightened levels of paranoia including the belief his home was bugged by the government. (TT Vol. 3 46:16–48:3; Vol. 4 31:21–32:20). While in Ohio, he took over his brother's landscaping business, which quickly failed. (TT Vol. 3 50:9–51:22). While living in Ohio, he met C. Davis and they began dating. (TT Vol. 3 25:8–26:21). After the failure of his landscaping business he moved back home to Marion, Iowa. (TT Vol. 3 25:4–18, 50:9–51:22). C. Davis, a mother of three kids, left her children and spouse and moved to Iowa with G. Davis. (TT Vol. 3 25:4–18).

C. Incident

G. Davis called his mother Katherine Davis (K. Davis) on September 29, 2017, and said, "Carrie is gone." (TT Vol. 3 32:5–13). G. Davis told K.

Davis he thought C. Davis would wake up when the devil was out of her. (TT Vol. 3 60:13–16). K. Davis was unsure what this statement meant, and two days later became concerned and called law enforcement to check on C. Davis. (TT Vol. 3 41:24–42:2).

On October 2, 2017, Marion Police conducted a welfare check at 560 Hillview Drive, Marion, Iowa in response to K. Davis's call. (TT Vol. 2 27:2–23). Officers found C. Davis's body wrapped in a roll of carpet on a trailer in the carport. (TT Vol. 2 29:7–20, 42:7–8). An autopsy showed the death was by twenty-six sharp force injuries and blunt force injuries. (TT Vol. 3 105:3–5, 114:23–115:2).

G. Davis was arrested on October 2, 2017. Body camera footage of the arrest shows G. Davis compliantly walking with officers from the back porch of his parent's home. (State Trial Ex. 10⁴ 1:57). Following his arrest, G. Davis told police he was possessed by the devil and thought C. Davis was possessed as well. (Ex. 12 19:28–19:46; 25:26–25:44). G. Davis stated he could barely remember the details of the incident and did not feel totally in control. (Ex. 12 28:00–28:08; 53:48–54:06).

⁴ DVD recording of defendant's arrest Oct. 2, 2017

D. Psychiatric Evaluations

Three physicians evaluated G. Davis and presented their opinions at trial. All three testified that G. Davis was genuine and reliable in giving truthful information. (TT Vol. 4 25:4–13, 49:20–24, 127:16–19). Moreover, all said he had a history of mental illness and suffered from substance-induced psychosis. (TT Vol. 4 17:22–18:3; 55:15–56:21; 140:2–3).

Dr. Arthur Konar⁵ conducted a psychological evaluation of G. Davis on November 9, 2017. He testified that G. Davis experienced substance-induced psychosis that was in partial remission. (TT Vol. 4 140:2–3). At the time of the offense G. Davis "was undergoing hallucinations and delusions and was not able to essentially keep up with or understand behavior and its consequences." (TT Vol. 4 141:4–7). Due to his psychosis, he was unable to understand how his actions would ultimately affect C. Davis. (TT Vol. 4 141:9–21).

Dr. Konar testified about the many statements made by G. Davis during the psychological evaluation. G. Davis stated he thought C. Davis was the devil and he was the devil. He thought the only way to help her was to kill her, which would allow her to be resurrected because he thought he was Jesus

17

⁵ Dr. Konar is a licensed psychologist in the state of Iowa with health service provider status. He practices clinical counseling psychology.

Christ. (TT Vol. 4 142:15–143:14). At the time of the act, he thought killing her was helping her because Muppet hands would come and bring life back to her and allow her to be free. (TT Vol. 4 142:22–143:7). Dr. Konar testified that as crazy as the statements sounded, they were what G. Davis was thinking during his substance-induced psychosis. (TT Vol. 4 143:8–14).

To me his state of mind, in terms of the defense, was that he was undergoing hallucinations and delusions and was not able to essentially keep up with or understand behavior and its consequences. . . . What I would say is that Gregory Davis did not have the ability to form intent and was — also did not understand how his behaviors would ultimately affect the individual that he hurt.

(TT Vol. 4 141:4–12). Dr. Gary Keller⁶ conducted a psychiatric examination of G. Davis on February 13, 2018. (TT Vol. 4 13:3–7). He diagnosed him with major depressive disorder, anxiety disorder, cannabis use disorder, and amphetamine use disorder with psychosis. (TT Vol. 4 12:24–13:2, 17:22–18:3).

⁶ Dr. Keller is a psychiatrist at Iowa Medical Classification Center who reviews inmate needs for medications and treatment. (TT Vol. 47:2–4, 9:10–11).

Dr. Arnold Andersen⁷ conducted an evaluation on behalf of the Linn County Attorney's office on February 13th, 15th, and 19th of 2018. (TT Vol. 42:7–10; 49:1–4). At trial he testified:

I concluded that at the time of the alleged crime he did not have the capacity to form the specific intent of a criminal act. He did have the intent to kill Ms. Davis, however, he believed this act was morally right and necessary and that by killing her he would be freeing her of her evil forces and lead to her resurrection and perhaps life in a better location.

(TT Vol. 4 51:19–25). He stated at the time of C. Davis's death G. Davis believed his actions would free her from evil and usher her into a better place. (TT Vol. 4 52:5–15). He testified long-term usage of methamphetamine in high doses tends to cause abnormal mental states. (TT Vol. 4 56:3–13). He then explained that G. Davis was experiencing methamphetamine induced psychosis, which can lead to hallucinations, delusions, hearing voices, and abnormal beliefs. (TT Vol. 4 55:15–56:21).

_

⁷ Dr. Andersen is a physician specializing in psychiatry. He works part-time for the Iowa Department of Corrections as a forensic psychiatrist evaluating inmate competence to stand trial and conducts evaluations of affirmative defenses for insanity or diminished responsibility. (TT Vol. 4 41:22–42:6).

ARGUMENT

I. OMISSION OF THE DEFENSE OF INSANITY IN THE MARSHALING INSTRUCTION FOR MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE WAS A CLEAR ERROR OF LAW AND COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE IN FAILING TO OBJECT.

A. Issue Preservation

G. Davis filed a notice of insanity and diminished responsibility. (App. 8). The parties also filed joint instructions recognizing the defense of insanity and the burdens of proof. (App. 11, 12).

The erroneous and glaring omission of the directive "You must then consider the defense of insanity as described in Instructions No. 14–18[,]" in the marshaling instruction for Murder in the First Degree (App. 28) appeared to be unknown until it was raised in the Motion for New Trial. (App. 38). The district court while recognizing that "Defendant is correct that Instruction No. 22 does not mention the insanity defense," determined there was no error. (App. 52).

Also, G. Davis argued it was ineffective assistance of counsel to not object to Instruction No. 22. (App. 56). The court dismissed this argument finding there was no error in the instruction for counsel to object to. (App. 77).

B. Standard of Review

This issue can be reviewed under multiple standards of review.

First, because Jury Instruction No. 22 was so deficient that it infected the trial and resulting conviction, G. Davis's due process rights were violated under article 1, section 9 of the Iowa Constitution, and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. *Middleton v. McNeil*, 541 U.S. 433, 437 (2004) (quoting *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 72 (1991) ("[N]ot every ambiguity, inconsistency, or deficiency in a jury instruction rises to the level of a due process violation. The question is 'whether the ailing instruction . . . so infected the entire trial that the resulting conviction violates due process.")).

Second, the district court is required to instruct the jury as to the law applicable to all material issues in the case. *State v. Becker*, 818 N.W.2d 135, 141 (Iowa 2012), *overruled on other grounds by Alcala v. Marriot Int'l*, Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699, 708 n.3 (Iowa 2016). Challenges to jury instructions are reviewed for correction of errors at law. *State v. Spates*, 779 N.W.2d 770, 775 (Iowa 2010). Review is to determine whether the challenged instruction accurately states the law and is supported by substantial evidence. *Id.* Error in giving an instruction requires reversal if it results in prejudice. *Id.* Errors are presumed prejudicial unless the record shows no prejudice existed. *State v. Murray*, 796 N.W.2d 907, 908 (Iowa 2011). Prejudice can be shown if the "instruction could reasonably have misled or misdirected the jury." *Becker*,

818 N.W.2d at 141. Conflicting or confusing jury instruction are presumed prejudicial and require reversal. *Koenig v. Koenig*, 766 N.W.2d 635, 637 (Iowa 2009). An instruction containing a material misstatement of law also requires reversal. *Waits v. United Fire & Cas. Co.*, 572 N.W.2d 565, 575 (Iowa 1997).

Third, because Jury Instruction No. 22 failed to adequately represent G. Davis' theory of the case by omitting reference to insanity, this violated his constitutional right to due process under article 1, section 9 of the Iowa Constitution, and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S. Constitution. A district court's decision that implicates a defendant's constitutional rights are reviewed de novo. *Becker*, 818 N.W.2d at 141. A party is entitled to have their legal theories presented to a jury if supported by the evidence. *Sonnek v. Warren*, 522 N.W.2d 45, 47 (Iowa 1994).

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