IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 19–0214

---

STATE OF IOWA,  
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

GREGORY MICHAEL DAVIS,  
Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR LINN COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE SEAN W. MCPARTLAND, JUDGE

---

**APPELLEE’S BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**LOUIS S. SLOVEN**  
Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-5976  
[Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov)

JERRY VANDER SANDEN  
Linn County Attorney

ELENA WOLFORD  
Assistant Linn County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

##

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

## ARGUMENT

### I. **Davis’s trial counsel was not ineffective in failing to challenge omission of internal cross-references to other jury instructions from Jury Instruction 22.**

#### **Preservation of Error**

Error was not preserved. The parties submitted their proposed jury instructions in a joint filing. *See* Joint Proposed Jury Instructions (9/7/18) at 26–27; App. 11–12. Davis informed the trial court that his proposed instruction (22B) only differed from the State’s version (22A) in two ways, both relating to the numbered elements of the offense. *See* TrialTr.V5 13:2–14:1. The State argued that version 22A was preferable because it mirrored the model instructions. *See* TrialTr.V5 14:5–15; Memo (9/12/18); App. ----; *cf.* ISBA Model Criminal Jury Instr. 700.1. The trial court selected proposed instruction 22A “based upon the fact that it is a model instruction,” and noted that it included the concepts that Davis had identified. *See* TrialTr.V5 14:16–22.

Davis did not object to the proposed instruction’s omission of cross-references to instructions on the insanity defense. *See* TrialTr.V5 13:2–14:22. Davis did not raise the issue when the parties reviewed all internal cross-references in the jury instructions to check numbering. *See* TrialTr.V5 18:21–22:25. Davis heard the instructions read aloud to the jury, and did not flag this issue. *See* TrialTr.V5 23:1–26:7. Finally,

in argument on the motion for new trial, Davis conceded that error had not been preserved by timely objection. *See* Sent.Tr. 12:8–24.

Davis raised this argument in a motion for new trial, and the court ruled on it. *See* Motion For New Trial (1/11/19) at 2; App. 39; Ruling (1/27/19) at 1–3; App. 48–50. But that was already too late. *See State v. Ambrose*, 861 N.W.2d 550, 555–56 (Iowa 2015) (explaining error was not preserved for argument about jury instructions when “[t]he objection made at trial by Ambrose failed to give the trial court an opportunity to correct the error he now claims on appeal”); *State v. Ondayog*, 722 N.W.2d 778, 785 (Iowa 2006) (noting “timely objection to jury instructions in criminal proceedings is necessary to preserve alleged error for appellate review”). Davis argues “the district court is required to instruct the jury as to the law applicable to all material issues in the case.” *See* Def’s Br. at 21. But the Iowa Supreme Court firmly rejects any suggestion that error preservation requirements might not apply to claims alleging error in jury instructions.

It is the trial court’s duty to instruct a jury fully and fairly, even without request, but our adversary system imposes the burden upon counsel to make a proper record to preserve error, if any, in this factual circumstance by specifically objecting to instructions in their final form, requesting instructions and voicing specific exception in event they are refused.



*State v. Sallis*, 262 N.W.2d 240, 248 (Iowa 1978) (citing *State v. Overmann*, 220 N.W.2d 914, 918 (Iowa 1974)). “In the absence of such an objection, any alleged error in the instruction is waived.” See *State v. Welch*, 507 N.W.2d 580, 584 (Iowa 1993) (citing *State v. Bell*, 223 N.W.2d 181, 185 (Iowa 1974)).

Davis can argue that his counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve error through a timely challenge to this instruction. See, e.g., *Ondayog*, 722 N.W.2d at 785. Until recently, Iowa appellate courts could address ineffective-assistance claims on direct appeal “when the record [was] sufficient to permit a ruling.” See *State v. Wills*, 696 N.W.2d 20, 22 (Iowa 2005). Recent amendments to section 814.7 reallocate the authority to decide those claims in the first instance. See Iowa Code § 814.7 (2019); 2019 Iowa Acts ch. 140, § 31. Because section 814.7 applied retroactively to cases pending on appeal when it was enacted, this remedial amendment that serves the same function in directing these claims to specific courts that are optimally equipped to resolve them is also procedural, and applies to all pending appeals. See *Hannan v. State*, 732 N.W.2d 45, 50–51 (Iowa 2007); accord *Dolezal v. Bockes*, 602 N.W.2d 348, 351 (Iowa 1999); *Smith v. Korf*, *Diehl*, *Clayton and Cleverly*, 302 N.W.2d 137, 138–39 (Iowa 1981).

If this Court disagrees or chooses not to decide whether the amendment to section 814.7 is applicable to pending appeals, it could still preserve this claim for resolution “on a more developed record in a postconviction-relief proceeding.” *See Shorter*, 893 N.W.2d at 84.

### **Standard of Review**

There is no standard of review for an unpreserved claim. Claims alleging ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. *See, e.g., State v. Thorndike*, 860 N.W.2d 316, 319 (Iowa 2015).

### **Merits**

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, “a defendant must typically show that (1) counsel failed to perform an essential duty and (2) prejudice resulted.” *State v. Keller*, 760 N.W.2d 451, 452 (Iowa 2009) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). Both elements must be proven, and failure to prove a single element is fatal to the claim. “If the claim lacks prejudice, it can be decided on that ground alone without deciding whether the attorney performed deficiently.” *Ledezma v. State*, 626 N.W.2d 134, 142 (Iowa 2001).

Each of the instructions for lesser included offenses noted that, after finding all elements were proven, “[y]ou must then consider the defense of insanity as described in Instructions No. 14–18.” *See Jury*

Instr. 30, 32, 34, 36, 38, 42–44; App. 29–37. The instruction defining first-degree murder did not contain that language. *See* Jury Instr. 22; App. 28. Davis argues his trial counsel breached an essential duty by failing to object, and that he was prejudiced because that omission “resulted in the jury erroneously believing insanity was not applicable for consideration when deliberating on first-degree murder.” *See* Def’s Br. at 28–34. This claim fails on both breach and prejudice.

**A. Davis cannot show breach of an essential duty because the jury instructions, taken together, accurately instruct on all applicable defenses.**

Trial counsel has a duty to object to instructions that misstate the law or omit concepts entirely. However, “[i]t is well settled that a trial court need not instruct in a particular way so long as the subject of the applicable law is correctly covered when all the instructions are read together.” *See State v. Uthe*, 542 N.W.2d 810, 815 (Iowa 1996); *accord State v. Canal*, 773 N.W.2d 528, 532–33 (Iowa 2009).

Here, the instructional package contained and explained the applicable law on the insanity defense, using this instruction:

The Defendant claims he is not guilty by reason of insanity. You must first determine if the State has proved all the elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. If you find the State has proved all the elements, then you must consider the issue of the Defendant’s sanity.

Jury Instr. 14; App. 21. Another instruction contained a similar explanation of the need to consider the insanity defense after finding that the State carried its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt: “If the State has proved all the elements of a crime, you should then determine if the Defendant has proved he was insane.” *See* Jury Instr. 16; App. 23. When jury instructions contain minor ambiguities that are clarified and resolved by *other* jury instructions, trial counsel has no duty to object and cannot be ineffective for declining to do so. *See Fintel*, 689 N.W.2d at 104; *accord* Sent.Tr. 16:2–17:18.

Davis argues that jurors would presume that, in light of the inclusion of cross-references in the marshalling instructions for all lesser-included offenses, omitting that language from the marshalling instruction for first-degree murder must have been intentional. *See* Def’s Br. at 26–30. But it is just as likely that jurors viewed that extra language as a reminder that the insanity defense *also* applied to lesser-included offenses, rather than an indication that it *only* applied to lesser offenses. First-degree murder was the focus of the trial, and a reasonable juror would understand that insanity would be a defense to first-degree murder from the reference to “the crime charged” in the instruction introducing the concept. *See* Jury Instr. 14; App. 21.

And if insanity were inapplicable to first-degree murder, it would be impossible for Davis to be “not guilty by reason of insanity”—instead, he would have to be “not guilty of first-degree murder, and not guilty of other crimes by reason of insanity.” *See* Jury Instr. 14; App. 21.

An instruction that elaborated on the insanity defense explained that Davis was claiming that “he is not criminally responsible for his conduct by reason of insanity.” *See* Jury Instr. 15; App. 22. Nothing in that instruction was crime-specific, and a reasonable juror would understand that insanity was a complete defense to all of the charges. Some defenses were explained in terms that made them applicable to specific charges, and not to others—but the insanity defense was not one of them. *Compare* Jury Instr. 16; App. 23 (“If the State has proved all the elements of *a crime*, you should then determine if the Defendant has proved he was insane.” (emphasis added)), *with* Jury Instr. 17; App. 24 (“If you have reasonable doubt the Defendant was capable of acting deliberately, with premeditation, and the specific intent to kill, then the Defendant cannot be guilty of First Degree Murder. You should then consider the lesser included charges.”); Jury Instr. 19; App. 26 (“No amount of intoxicants or drugs taken voluntarily can reduce second degree murder to manslaughter.”).

Indeed, the jury instructions highlighted that contrast by explaining: “‘Diminished Responsibility’ does not entirely relieve a person of the responsibility for his actions and is not the same as an insanity defense.” See Jury Instr. 17; App. 24. Diminished responsibility was uniquely applicable to first-degree murder; its reference to the insanity defense having *broader* application would remind jurors to analyze both.

A nearly identical claim was rejected in *State v. Stonerook*, where the Iowa Court of Appeals held that declining to object to an instruction without that cross-reference was not a breach of duty:

Stonerook maintains counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the marshalling instruction for first-degree murder. In particular, he argues he was denied his right to due process because this instruction allowed the jury to convict him without addressing or considering his affirmative defense of insanity.

[. . .]

Stonerook asserts the marshalling instruction should have contained some reference to his affirmative defense of insanity. He further posits that this error was “magnified” due to the fact that the murder marshalling instruction was contained in instruction fourteen while the affirmative defense instructions did not start until instruction forty-one. . . .

. . . It is not disputed here that all of the essential elements of first-degree murder were included in the marshalling instruction. We therefore find no fault in the marshalling instruction for failing to mention Stonerook’s insanity defense. See *Sillick v. Ault*, 358 F.Supp.2d 738, 761–62 (N.D. Iowa 2005) (rejecting identical claim).

[. . .]

[A]s the State appropriately notes, juries are instructed to “consider all of the instructions together” and that “[n]o one instruction includes all of the applicable law.” Generally, a jury is presumed to follow its instructions. *State v. Frank*, 298 N.W.2d 324, 327 (Iowa 1980). We must therefore presume that the jury here did not read solely the first-degree murder marshalling instruction and ignore or overlook the subsequent insanity instructions. . . . The jury was not allowed to find Stonerook guilty of murder if it further found he was insane, as Stonerook seems to suggest. In fact, the jury was specifically instructed that “[i]f you find the State has proved all of the elements, then you *must* consider the issue of the defendant’s insanity.” (Emphasis added.) The number of additional instructions that fall between the murder and insanity instructions do not alter our conclusion.

Accordingly, we conclude counsel did not breach an essential duty in failing to object to either the first degree-murder marshalling instruction or the relative placement of the insanity instructions as the instructions were accurate to the law and appropriate to the facts of this case.

*State v. Stonerook*, No. 05–1917, 2006 WL 3799546, at \*2–3 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 28, 2006); *accord Kirklin v. State*, No. 01–0230, at \*2 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 28, 2001) (rejecting a similar claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge marshalling instructions that did not make reference to insanity defense, because other instructions “advised the jury if defendant has proved either of these elements [of insanity] by a preponderance of the evidence, then the defendant is not guilty by reason of insanity,” and “[t]here was direction to the jury to read all of the instructions and that they were to be read together”).

Just like in *Stonerook*, the jury was instructed that it “must consider all of the instructions together,” and “[n]o one instruction includes all of the applicable law.” See Jury Instr. 7; App. 19. The jury instructions, taken as a whole, gave jurors the correct framework for applying the insanity defense as a complete defense to any crime. See Jury Instr. 14; App. 21 (“You must first determine if the State has proved all the elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. If you find the State has proved all the elements, then you must consider the issue of the Defendant’s sanity.”); Jury Instr. 16; App. 23 (“If the State has proved all the elements of a crime, you should then determine if the Defendant has proved he was insane.”). The omission of a cross-reference did not give rise to a duty to object. See *State v. Broughton*, 450 N.W.2d 874, 876 (Iowa 1990) (quoting *State v. Blackford*, 335, N.W.2d 173, 178 (Iowa 1983)) (“[N]ot every right to insist that a particular instruction be given need be availed of by counsel in order to satisfy the standard of normal competency.”); accord *State v. Gilmore*, No. 11–0858, 2012 WL 3589810, at \*1, \*6–9 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 22, 2012) (“Because the jury instructions accurately conveyed the law on insanity, trial counsel had no duty to object, and therefore did not render ineffective assistance.”).



**B. Davis cannot show prejudice. Adding this language to Jury Instruction 22 would not create a reasonable probability of a different result.**

Davis argues that prejudice is presumed. *See* Def’s Br. at 32–33. However, Davis can only raise this as an ineffective-assistance claim, which “[is] not to be reviewed on the basis of whether the claimed error would have required reversal if it had been preserved at trial.” *See State v. Maxwell*, 743 N.W.2d 185, 196 (Iowa 2008). Instead, Davis must establish “a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceeding would have been different” if that cross-reference had been included in the marshalling instruction. *See Thorndike*, 860 N.W.2d at 322. Davis’s argument is that, because of that omission, “[t]here was no insanity consideration.” *See* Def’s Br. at 29. But the jury deliberated after closing arguments, which framed the case and emphasized facts that counsel saw as critical to an insanity defense:

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